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|| April 9,1997
|

. James P. Fairall, Jr.
Colonel, U.S. Army'

Chief of Staff'

| Department of the Army
| .HO, U.S. Army industrial Operations Command
i ATTN: AMSTO-DMN

Rock Island, IL 61299-6000
;

i SUBJECT: NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 040-08767/97002(DNMS)
;
i Dear Colonel Feirall:

This refers to the inspection conducted on January 28 and 29,1997, at the industrial Risk
Mana9ement Radioactive Weste Division in Rock Island, IL. The purpose of the inspection
was to determine whether activities authorized by the license were conducted safely and .j
in accordance with NRC requirements. At the conclusion of the inspection, the findings 4

'

were discussed with you and members of your staff. ;

The inspection was an examination of activities conducted under your license as they
relau. to radiation safety and to compliance with the Commission's rules and regulations

- and with the conditions of your license. Within these areas, the inspection consisted of
selective examinations of procedures and representative records, and interviews with
personnel.

|
No violations of NRC requirements were identified during the course of this inspection. 1

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.790 of the NRC's " Rules of Practices," a copy of this letter
will be placed in the NiiC Public Document Room (PDR).

We will gladly discuss any questions you have concerning this inspection.

Sincerely,

Original signed by
Gary L. Shear for

Roy J. Caniano, Acting Director
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety

License No.: SUC-1380
Docket No.: 040-08767

cc: Kelly Crooks, Radiation Safety Officer
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James P. Feirall, Jr.
Colonel, U.S. Army
Chief of Staff
Department of the Army .

,

!HQ, U.S. Army Industrial Operations Commandi-

ATTN: AMSTO-DMN
Rock Island, IL 61299-6000 i

SUBJECT: NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 040-08767/970024DNMS)

Dear Colonel Fairall: {
.

This refers to the inspection conducted on January 28 and 29,1997, at the Industrial Risk
Management Radioactive Waste Division in Rock Island, IL. The purpose of the inspection
was to determine whether activities authorized by the license were conducted safely and
in accordance with NRC requirements. At the conclusion of the inspection, the findings
were discussed with you and members of your staff."

The inspection was an examination of activities conducted under your license as they
relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Commission's rules and regulations
and with the conditions of your license. Within these areas, the inspection consisted of
selective examinations of procedures and representative records, and interviews with
personnel. ;

No violations of NRC requirements were identified during the course of this inspection.

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.790 of the NRC's " Rules of Practices," a copy of this letter
will be placed in the NRC Public Document Room (PDR).

We will gladly discuss any questions you have concerning this inspection.
i

Sincerely,
,

|

i

1.

Roy J. Caniano, Acting Director ,

Division of Nuclear Materials Safety ;

License No.: SUC-1380
Docket No.: 040-08767

cc: Kelly Crooks, Radiation Safety Officer
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